

Home Search Collections Journals About Contact us My IOPscience

Hopfing and puffing warped anti-de Sitter space

This article has been downloaded from IOPscience. Please scroll down to see the full text article. JHEP09(2009)075 (http://iopscience.iop.org/1126-6708/2009/09/075)

The Table of Contents and more related content is available

Download details: IP Address: 80.92.225.132 The article was downloaded on 01/04/2010 at 13:42

Please note that terms and conditions apply.

PUBLISHED BY IOP PUBLISHING FOR SISSA

RECEIVED: August 12, 2009 ACCEPTED: September 7, 2009 PUBLISHED: September 15, 2009

Hopfing and puffing warped anti-de Sitter space

Dionysios Anninos

Center for the Fundamental Laws of Nature, Jefferson Physical Laboratory, Harvard University, Cambridge, MA, U.S.A.

E-mail: anninos@physics.harvard.edu

ABSTRACT: Three dimensional spacelike warped anti-de Sitter space is studied in the context of Einstein theories of gravity and string theory, where there is no gravitational Chern-Simons term in the action. We propose that it is holographically dual to a two-dimensional conformal field theory with equal left and right moving central charges. Various checks of the central charges are offered, based on the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy of the stretched warped black holes and warped self-dual solutions. The proposed central charges are applied to compute the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy of the Hopf T-dual of six-dimensional dyonic black strings which have a near horizon consisting of three dimensional warped antide Sitter space times a three-sphere. We find that the Hopf T-duality is a map between thermal states with equal entropy of the CFTs dual to the dyonic black string and the Hopf T-dualized black string.

KEYWORDS: AdS-CFT Correspondence, Black Holes in String Theory, Black Holes

ARXIV EPRINT: 0809.2433





Contents

1	Introduction and summary	1
2	Black hole entropies	3
	2.1 AdS_3 and BTZ black holes	3
	2.2 $WAdS_3$ and warped black holes	4
	2.2.1 Warped black holes in TMG	5
	2.2.2 Warped black holes in Einstein gravity	5
	2.3 Entropy of warped black holes and central charges	6
3	Self-dual solutions	7
4	Hopf T-duality	8
	4.1 Solutions	8
5	Entropy of six-dimensional black strings	10
	5.1 Six-dimensional type IIB black string	10
	5.2 Six-dimensional Hopf T-dualized type IIA black string	12
6	Duality chains	13
	6.1 Hopf T-dualization along the AdS_3 fiber	13
	6.2 Hopf T-dualization along the S_B^3 fiber	14
	6.3 Double Hopf T-dualization	15
7	Discussion	15
\mathbf{A}	AdS_3 isometries	17
в	Hopf T-dual solutions with non-zero ϕ_1 and ϕ_2	18
	D.1 Hopi 1-dual solution	18

1 Introduction and summary

Three dimensional spacelike warped anti-de Sitter space $(WAdS_3)$ is the geometry obtained by expressing AdS_3 as a Hopf fibration over AdS_2 , where the fiber is the real line [1–3], and "warping" the length of the fiber. Its metric is given by:

$$ds^{2} = \frac{(4-\beta^{2})\ell^{2}}{12} \left[-\cosh^{2}\rho d\tau^{2} + d\rho^{2} + \beta^{2} (dz^{2} + \sinh\rho d\tau)^{2} \right]$$
(1.1)

where $z \in [-\infty, \infty]$ is the fiber coordinate and $\beta^2 \in [0, 4]$ is the warp factor.

When the fiber is stretched ($\beta^2 > 1$) we have stretched $WAdS_3$, whereas when the fiber is squashed ($\beta^2 < 1$) we have squashed $WAdS_3$. In [4], these solutions and their corresponding black holes were studied in the context of topologically massive gravity (TMG) [5, 6]. It was proposed that quantum gravity in spacelike stretched $WAdS_3$ is holographically dual to a two-dimensional CFT and a left and right moving central charge was proposed.

In this note, we wish to study the warped black holes and warped self-dual objects discussed in [4] in the context of Einstein theories of gravity and string theory. In these theories there is no gravitational Chern-Simons (CS) term in the three dimensional effective Lagrangian. We examine the known cases where such solutions arise in theories of Einstein gravity with matter content. We propose that in such contexts both squashed and stretched spacelike $WAdS_3$ is given by a two-dimensional CFT with equal left and right-moving central charges given by

$$c_L = c_R = \frac{\sqrt{3}(4-\beta^2)^{1/2}\beta\ell}{2G_3}$$
(1.2)

where $-6/\ell^2$ is the Ricci scalar and β^2 is the warp factor of the warped solution (1.1).

The central charges are obtained by studying the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy of stretched black holes and of both stretched and squashed warped self-dual solutions. These central charges only depend on the warp factor and the curvature scale, which are both geometrical quantities. Furthermore, when the solution becomes unwarped with $\beta^2 = 1$ the central charges reduce to the ones for AdS_3 . Finally, one can express the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy of the warped black holes and self-dual solutions in the form of the entropy of a thermal state in a two-dimensional CFT by using the above central charges. The left and right-moving temperatures of the thermal state are related to the coefficients of the discrete identifications made on $WAdS_3$ to obtain the warped black holes. One way to confirm these central charges would be to find the appropriate boundary conditions for warped anti-de Sitter space and study the asymptotic symmetry group (ASG), in the same spirit as Brown-Henneaux [7].

The proposed central charges are then applied to match the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy of the black objects with $WAdS_3 \times S^3$ near horizons, discovered in [2], with the entropy of the proposed dual CFT.¹ These objects are Hopf T-duals of the dyonic string [8] in type IIB string theory reduced on a T^4 or K3. A Hopf T-dual solution is obtained by compactifying the fiber coordinate z of the six-dimensional type IIB solution, performing a T-duality along z and finally oxidizing back to six-dimensions. The type IIB dyonic string sources both NS-NS and R-R charges and has an $AdS_3 \times S^3$ near horizon. Using the fact that AdS_3 is dual to a two-dimensional CFT, we extend the duality chain obtained in [2] to the following:

$$CFT_B \longleftrightarrow AdS_3 \times S^3 \longleftrightarrow WAdS_3 \times S^3 \longleftrightarrow CFT_A$$
 (1.3)

where both AdS_3 and $WAdS_3$ have the fiber coordinate identified. We compute the entropy of the thermal states of the CFTs on either side using the proposed central charges and find

¹It worth noting that both stretched and squashed $WAdS_3$, with the fiber coordinate identified, can also appear as the near horizon geometry of the extremal Kerr black hole at fixed polar angle [1, 9–11].

that they match, in agreement with the observation that the entropy of the black string solutions remains unchanged under a Hopf T-duality [2]. Thus, the duality maps thermal states with vanishing right-moving temperature in CFT_B to thermal states with vanishing right-moving temperature in CFT_A with the same entropy.

Finally, the duality between $AdS_3 \times S^3$ and the theory obtained by Hopf T-dualizing along the fiber coordinate of the S^3 is studied. We find that the Hopf T-duality is a map between thermal states with vanishing right-moving temperature with the same entropy. The CFTs on either side have the same central charge. A similar conclusion is obtained for the duality between $WAdS_3 \times S^3$ and theory obtained by Hopf T-dualizing along the fiber coordinate of the S^3 .

2 Black hole entropies

Our story begins by studying the entropies of both the BTZ and warped black holes in the context of Einstein theories of gravity. As usual the entropy is given by the Bekenstein-Hawking formula

$$S_{\rm BH} = \frac{A_{\rm BH}}{4G_3} \tag{2.1}$$

where $A_{\rm BH}$ is the proper area of the black hole and G_3 is the three-dimensional Newton's constant.

2.1 AdS_3 and BTZ black holes

We begin with the metric of global AdS_3 expressed as a Hopf fibration of the real line over Lorentzian AdS_2 :

$$ds^{2} = \frac{\ell^{2}}{4} \left[-\cosh^{2}\rho d\tau^{2} + d\rho^{2} + (dz + \sinh\rho d\tau)^{2} \right]$$
(2.2)

where z is known as the fiber coordinate and $\{\rho, \tau, z\} \in [-\infty, \infty]$. The isometry group is given by $\mathrm{SL}(2, \mathbb{R})_R \times \mathrm{SL}(2, \mathbb{R})_L$ and the explicit form of the Killing vectors is given in appendix A.

As is well known by now, BTZ black holes arise in Einstein gravity endowed with a negative cosmological constant $\Lambda = -1/\ell^2$ [12]. Furthermore, these black holes have been shown to be global identifications of AdS_3 [13–15].² Specifically, they are obtained by periodically identifying points along Killing directions of AdS_3 and excluding the region of space where CTCs arise (behind the horizon). The identified Killing direction is given by:

$$\xi = \pi \ell \left(\tilde{T}_L J_2 - \tilde{T}_R \tilde{J}_2 \right) \tag{2.3}$$

where $\tilde{T}_L = (r_+ + r_-)/2\pi\ell^2$ and $\tilde{T}_R = (r_+ - r_-)/2\pi\ell^2$ are the corresponding left and right moving temperatures of the dual theory and r_+ and r_- are the outer and inner horizon radii.

The central charges of the dual CFT were discovered by Brown-Henneaux [7]:

$$c_L = c_R = \frac{3\ell}{2G_3} \tag{2.4}$$

²In what follows we will be focusing on non-extremal warped and unwarped black holes.

Finally, the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy of the BTZ black hole is given by

$$S_{\rm BH}^{\rm BTZ} = \frac{\pi r_+}{2G_3} = \frac{\pi^2 \ell}{3} \left(\tilde{T}_L c_L + \tilde{T}_R c_R \right) \tag{2.5}$$

The entropy takes the form of a Cardy-formula in accordance with the notion that the theory is dual to a two-dimensional CFT.

2.2 $WAdS_3$ and warped black holes

In [4], $WAdS_3$ was obtained and studied as a solution to pure TMG [5, 6]. The explicit metric for spacelike $WAdS_3$ has the form:

$$ds^{2} = \frac{(4-\beta^{2})\ell^{2}}{12} \left[-\cosh^{2}\rho d\tau^{2} + d\rho^{2} + \beta^{2} (dz^{2} + \sinh\rho d\tau)^{2} \right]$$
(2.6)

where the Ricci scalar is given by $R = -6/\ell^2$ and $\{\rho, \tau, z\} \in [-\infty, \infty]$. The relation to the TMG parameter ν is given by

$$\beta^2 = \frac{4\nu^2}{(\nu^2 + 3)} \tag{2.7}$$

Notice that the whole range of $\nu^2 \in [0, \infty]$ spans the interval $\beta^2 \in [0, 4]$. We will restrict β^2 to this range in what follows.

The isometry group of $WAdS_3$ is given by $SL(2, \mathbb{R})_R \times U(1)$, where the U(1) is spacelike. The warp factor is given by β^2 such that when $\beta^2 > 1$ we have a *stretched* warped solution, and when $\beta^2 < 1$ we have a *squashed* warped solution.

The metric of the spacelike warped black hole discovered in [16, 17], is based on the solutions obtained in [18, 19] and given by

$$\frac{ds^2}{\ell^2} = dt^2 + \frac{(4-\beta^2)dr^2}{12(r-r_+)(r-r_-)} + \frac{2\sqrt{3}}{\sqrt{4-\beta^2}}\left(\beta r - \sqrt{r_+r_-}\right)dtd\theta + \frac{3r}{(4-\beta^2)}\left((\beta^2-1)r + (r_++r_-) - 2\beta\sqrt{r_+r_-}\right)d\theta^2$$
(2.8)

Notice that squashed black holes, with $\beta^2 < 1$, have CTCs close to the boundary where r is large. Thus, it is unclear whether squashed black holes are part of the physical spectrum of the theory.

It was further shown in [4] (see also [20]) that warped black holes are global identifications of $WAdS_3$ under a linear combination of the Killing vectors of $WAdS_3$:

$$\xi = \pi \ell \left(T_L J_2 - T_R \tilde{J}_2 \right) \tag{2.9}$$

where

$$T_L \equiv \frac{3}{2\pi\ell(4-\beta^2)} \left(r_+ + r_- - \frac{2}{\beta}\sqrt{r_+r_-} \right)$$
(2.10)

$$T_R \equiv \frac{3(r_+ - r_-)}{2\pi\ell(4 - \beta^2)} \tag{2.11}$$

Here one interprets the coefficients as the left and right moving temperatures, as is done for the BTZ black hole.

2.2.1 Warped black holes in TMG

The proposed central charges for the dual CFT in the context of TMG were conjectured in [4] to be:³

$$\tilde{c}_R = \frac{(5\nu^2 + 3)\ell}{G_3\nu(\nu^2 + 3)} = \frac{(1+\beta^2)(4-\beta^2)^{1/2}\ell}{G_3\sqrt{3}\beta}$$
(2.12)

$$\tilde{c}_L = \frac{4\nu\ell}{G_3(\nu^2+3)} = \frac{\beta(4-\beta^2)^{1/2}\ell}{G_3\sqrt{3}}.$$
(2.13)

Notice that they are not equal, implying a diffeomorphism anomaly in the boundary CFT. In fact, the diffeomorphism anomaly arises from the gravitational CS term and was shown to agree with that predicted from the bulk point of view in [22]:

$$\tilde{c}_L - \tilde{c}_R = -\frac{\ell}{G_3\nu} \tag{2.14}$$

The CS corrected entropy [23–26] for the warped black hole in TMG can be written as [4]

$$S_{\rm TMG}^{\rm WBH} = \frac{\pi^2 \ell}{3} \left(T_L \tilde{c}_L + T_R \tilde{c}_R \right) \tag{2.15}$$

which once again takes the form of the entropy for a two-dimensional CFT.

2.2.2 Warped black holes in Einstein gravity

We will be interested in the central charges relevant to the stretched warped black hole in Einstein theories of gravity. We begin by reviewing the known cases where $WAdS_3$ appears in Einstein theories of gravity with matter content.

Perfect fluids. It was shown in [19] that solutions to TMG with a cosmological constant Λ can be obtained from solutions to Einstein gravity coupled to a stress tensor that takes the form of a perfect fluid. That is to say

$$R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}R = T^{\text{matter}}_{\mu\nu}$$
(2.16)

where

$$T_{\mu\nu}^{\text{matter}} = (p+\rho)u_{\mu}u_{\nu} + \rho g_{\mu\nu} \tag{2.17}$$

The pressure and energy density of the fluid are denoted by p and ρ such that the cosmological constant in the TMG theory is $\Lambda = (2p - \rho)/3 = -1/\ell^2$. In fact for such matter content to support stretched black holes in (2.8) one requires $u_{\mu}u^{\mu} = +1$, i.e. a spacelike four-velocity, for the perfect fluid. The warp factor is given by $\beta^2 = 4p\ell^2/(p\ell^2 + 3)$.

³Recently, c_R in (2.13) has been obtained by studying the ASG in [21].

Topologically massive electrodynamics. Squashed warped black holes, which have CTCs, arise in topologically massive electrodynamics coupled to Einstein gravity and a negative cosmological constant [27, 28] with action

$$I_{\rm TME} = \frac{1}{16\pi G} \int d^3x \left[\sqrt{-g} \left(R + \frac{2}{\ell^2} - \frac{1}{4} F^2 \right) - \frac{\alpha}{2} A_\mu F_{\nu\rho} \varepsilon^{\mu\nu\rho} \right]$$
(2.18)

Stretched warped black holes can also arise in such theories, with a warp factor $\beta^2 = 2\alpha^2 \ell^2 / (\alpha^2 \ell^2 + 1)$, but they require wrong sign kinetic terms for the Maxwell field strength. It was shown in [28] that the standard black hole thermodynamics holds for warped black holes in topologically massive electrodynamics using the Bekenstein-Hawking form of the entropy.

Near horizon of a extremal Kerr black hole. $WAdS_3$ is revealed to be the near horizon of extremal Kerr black holes at fixed polar angle [1, 9].⁴ Interestingly, it also arises as the external metric to an extremely relativistic rotating disk at fixed polar angle [29] given a specific limit. The metric is given by [9],

$$ds^{2} = 2M^{2}\Omega^{2}\left(-(1+r^{2})d\tau^{2} + \frac{dr^{2}}{(1+r^{2})} + d\theta^{2} + \beta(\theta)^{2}(d\phi^{2} + rd\tau)^{2}\right)$$
(2.19)

where the warp factor and Ω are given by,

$$\beta(\theta) = \frac{2\sin\theta}{1+\cos^2\theta}, \qquad \Omega^2 = \frac{1+\cos^2\theta}{2}$$
(2.20)

The coordinate ϕ has a 2π periodicity, $\theta \in [0, \pi]$ and $r \in [-\infty, \infty]$. The angular momentum is given in terms of the mass M and G_4 by $J = M^2/G_4$.

Uplifted solutions in string theory. Squashed $WAdS_3$ can be lifted to a full string theory solution in ten dimensions, as shown in [30]. Also, black strings with near horizons given by $WAdS_3 \times S^3$ were shown to be Hopf-T duals of the dyonic black string in sixdimensions [2], supported by both NS-NS and R-R charges, which has an $AdS_3 \times S^3$ near horizon. We will return to this case in section 4. Finally squashed $WAdS_3$ has appeared as an exact string background obtained from the target space of an exact marginal deformation of the $SL(2, \mathbb{R})$ WZW world sheet model [31–33].

2.3 Entropy of warped black holes and central charges

For Einstein theories of gravity, the metric (2.8) has a Bekenstein-Hawking entropy is given by the area of the black hole divided by $4G_3$. Using the left and right moving temperatures given in (2.10) and (2.11) this gives⁵

$$S_{\rm BH}^{\rm WBH} = \frac{\sqrt{3}\pi\ell}{2(4-\beta^2)^{1/2}G_3} \left(\beta r_+ - \sqrt{r_+r_-}\right)$$
(2.21)

$$=\frac{\pi^2\ell}{3}\left(\frac{\sqrt{3}(4-\beta^2)^{1/2}\beta\ell}{2G_3}T_L + \frac{\sqrt{3}(4-\beta^2)^{1/2}\beta\ell}{2G_3}T_R\right)$$
(2.22)

 $^{^{4}}$ In fact the fiber coordinate is periodically identified, so it is actually a self-dual solution as discussed in section 3.

 $^{^{5}}$ The relation (2.22) has also been noticed in the context of squashed black holes in [30].

Thus we propose that in the Einstein theory the central charges of spacelike stretched $WAdS_3$ are given by

$$c_R = c_L = \frac{\sqrt{3}(4-\beta^2)^{1/2}\beta\ell}{2G_3}$$
(2.23)

The above central charges pass all the obvious tests. For example, there is no diffeomorphism anomaly for Einstein theories such that the difference between the central charges vanishes. Furthermore, they reduce to those of AdS_3 , i.e. $3\ell/2G_3$, when $\beta = 1$. Finally, they don't depend on the black hole parameters, r_+ and r_- . Of course, we should emphasize that these central charges are reliable in the limit where gravity is reliable and the curvature is small compared to ℓ_{Pl}^{-2} .

One could, in principle, verify these central charges by studying the asymptotic symmetries in the spirit of Brown-Henneaux. This has been done in [34] for squashed black holes, where they obtain the above expression of c_R up to a sign. We should note, however, that it would be ideal to find a context in which we can compute the central charges for stretched black holes, given that it is unclear whether squashed black holes (which have CTCs) form part of the physical spectrum of states in the dual CFT. This is difficult because there is no known action in Einstein gravity, with non-pathological matter content, supporting stretched black holes. If the limit $\beta \to 0$ is allowed, the geometry tends to $AdS_2 \times \mathbb{R}$ and the proposed central charges vanish at $\beta = 0$. Finally, if $\beta^2 > 4$ the central charges above become imaginary, however in all cases mentioned, the stretched solutions are at most stretched with $\beta^2 = 4$, where the central charges vanish again.

On the other hand, there is another set of non-pathological solutions obtained by identifying the fiber coordinate which are likely to be part of the physical spectrum - given the near near horizon of the extremal Kerr black hole at fixed polar angle is one of them. In the next section we will study these solutions to get further evidence for c_L for all values of $\beta^2 \in [0, 4]$.

3 Self-dual solutions

Even though the conjecture in [4] was formulated for stretched AdS_3 , evidence was proposed for the squashed case. Specifically, certain *self-dual* solutions were shown to be physical solutions. These solutions have the fiber coordinate z identified.⁶ The reason we call such solutions self-dual is that they resemble the self-dual solutions discussed in [35], where the fiber coordinate is identified for the case of AdS_3 .

Let us identify the t coordinate in (2.8) such that $t \sim t + 2\pi\alpha$. The Bekenstein-Hawking entropy for the warped self-dual solution is given by

$$S_{\rm BH}^{\rm WSD} = \frac{A_{\rm BH}}{4G_3} = \frac{\pi\alpha\ell}{2G_3} \tag{3.1}$$

It was shown in [4] that, based on the identification, one can naturally define a left moving temperature for these solutions as $T_L = \sqrt{3}\alpha/\beta(4-\beta^2)^{1/2}\pi\ell$, while $T_R = 0$. Then we can

⁶There is actually an additional subtlety about squashed solutions in TMG. The limit $\beta \to 0$ is ill defined since the coefficient in front of the CS part of the action blows up. This is not an issue in the Einstein theory, and the limit leads smoothly to an $AdS_2 \times \mathbb{R}$ solution where the proposed central charges in (2.23) vanish.

write our entropy as

$$S_{\rm BH}^{\rm WSD} = \frac{\pi^2 T_L \ell}{3} \frac{\sqrt{3} (4 - \beta^2)^{1/2} \beta \ell}{2G_3} = \frac{\pi^2 \ell T_L c_L}{3} = S_{\rm CFT}^{\rm WSD}$$
(3.2)

Thus obtaining another confirmation of c_L , which in fact holds even when $\beta^2 < 1$. If the dual theory is a two-dimensional CFT with no diffeomorphism anomaly, knowledge of c_L suffices to conclude that $c_R = c_L$. Thus we have indirect evidence for c_R . It would be interesting to learn, for the squashed case, what the non-pathological bulk solutions corresponding to states with both left and right moving temperatures in the CFT are.

The relation (3.2) is in fact a property of the self-dual solutions of regular AdS_3 , which can be confirmed by taking $\beta^2 = 1$. We should note that regular self-dual solutions in AdS_3 have the confusing property that the dual boundary theory has closed null curves, once the Killing vectors are conformally rescaled.⁷ This does not seem to occur for the case of warped self-dual solutions; however, the notion of a conformal boundary becomes less clear in this case [1], and it deserves a better understanding. The fact that the Cardy-formula still holds suggests that we take the notion of a dual CFT seriously for these solutions as well. We will now proceed to explore a striking relation between the warped and unwarped self dual solutions discovered in [2].

4 Hopf T-duality

It was shown in [2] that there is a type of T-duality transformation that one can perform on solutions of type IIB string theories compactified on a T^4 or K3 to obtain solutions of type IIA string theory compactified on a T^4 or K3. In particular they showed that $AdS_3 \times S^3$ solutions (or solutions with such near-horizons) of a six-dimensional consistent truncation of type IIB theory is T-dual to a $WAdS_3 \times S^3$ solution (or solutions with such near horizons) of a six-dimensional truncation of IIA.

They obtained this by expressing AdS_3 as a fibration of the real line over AdS_2 , compactifying along the fiber coordinate and Hopf T-dualizing such that the length of the fiber is no longer equal to the anti-de Sitter length in the T-dual theory. Thus they showed,

$$AdS_3 \times S^3 \longleftrightarrow WAdS_3 \times S^3$$
 (4.1)

To be more precise, the theories that are dual to each other are in fact $AdS_3 \times S^3$ and $WAdS_3 \times S^3$ with the fibrated direction compactified, and are thus the self-dual solutions discussed in section 3. At the level of the massless Kaluza-Klein modes, either all or none of the supersymmetry is preserved under a Hopf T-duality depending on the orientation associated with the Hopf reduction [2].

4.1 Solutions

The matter content of the truncated type IIB theory consists of two dilatons, ϕ_1 and ϕ_2 , two axions, χ_1 and χ_2 , an NS-NS three-form $F_{(3)}^{NS}$ and an R-R three-form $F_{(3)}^{RR}$. The matter

⁷One way to get around this is to turn on an right moving temperature T_R , such that the solution is a regular BTZ black hole, and take the limit $T_R \to 0$.

content of the IIA theory consists of two dilatons, ϕ_1 and ϕ_2 , a four-form $F_{(4)}$, a three-form $F_{(3)}$ and a two-form $F_{(2)}$. For the sake of simplicity, all the dilatons are set to zero in what follows. In appendix B we give further details on the construction of the solutions.

Type IIB solutions. The $AdS_3 \times S^3$ solution of the six-dimensional type IIB theory, which arises as the near horizon of the dyonic string [8] carrying both NS-NS and R-R charges, is given by the following metric:

$$ds^{2} = \frac{1}{(\lambda^{2} + \mu^{2})} \left[-\cosh^{2}\rho d\tau^{2} + d\rho^{2} + (dz + \sinh\rho d\tau)^{2} \right] + ds^{2} (S_{B}^{3})$$
(4.2)

and

$$F_{(3)}^{\rm NS} = \lambda \varepsilon (AdS_3) + \lambda \varepsilon (S_B^3) \tag{4.3}$$

$$F_{(3)}^{\rm RR} = \mu \varepsilon (AdS_3) + \mu \varepsilon (S_B^3) \tag{4.4}$$

The fiber coordinate z is not necessarily compactified in the above solution. We will compactify it in order to obtain the Hopf T-dual solution in the type IIA theory. The Ricci tensors are

$$R_{\mu\nu} = -(\lambda^2 + \mu^2)g_{\mu\nu}/2, \qquad R_{mn} = (\lambda^2 + \mu^2)g_{mn}/2$$
(4.5)

where the Greek indices are those of AdS_3 and the Latin indices are those of the S_B^3 . Thus, the anti-de Sitter length is given by

$$\ell^2 = \frac{4}{\lambda^2 + \mu^2} = 4(Q_{\rm NS}^2 + Q_{\rm RR}^2)^{1/2}$$
(4.6)

where $Q_{\rm NS}$ and $Q_{\rm RR}$ are the NS-NS and R-R charges of the two three-forms present in the truncated type IIB action. Explicitly, they are given by:

$$Q_{\rm NS} \equiv \frac{1}{16\pi^2} \int_{S_B^3} F_{(3)}^{\rm NS} = \frac{\lambda}{(\lambda^2 + \mu^2)^{3/2}}$$
(4.7)

$$Q_{\rm RR} \equiv \frac{1}{16\pi^2} \int_{S_B^3} F_{(3)}^{\rm RR} = \frac{\mu}{(\lambda^2 + \mu^2)^{3/2}}$$
(4.8)

Note that distances are measured with respect to the string scale, ℓ_s . For gravity to be reliable we require a small curvature which equates to having $Q_{\rm NS} \gg 1$ and/or $Q_{\rm RR} \gg 1$.

When we do a Hopf T-duality to obtain the type IIA solution, we compactify along the fiber coordinate z, such that $z \sim z + 2\pi$, and perform the field transformations spelled out in [2]. The six-dimensional string coupling constant is given by

$$g_6 = e^{(\phi_1 + \phi_2)/2} \tag{4.9}$$

and the radius of the compactification circle in the string frame is given by,

$$R_{\rm IIB} = e^{(\phi_1 + \phi_2)/4 + \sqrt{3/8}\varphi} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\lambda^2 + \mu^2}} = \left(Q_{\rm NS}^2 + Q_{\rm RR}^2\right)^{1/4} \tag{4.10}$$

where φ is the dilaton corresponding to the compactification radius in the Einstein frame.

Type IIA solutions. The (oxidized) Hopf T-dual solution of the six-dimensional type IIA theory is given by,

$$ds^{2} = \frac{1}{(\lambda^{2} + \mu^{2})^{3/2}} \left[-\cosh^{2}\rho d\tau^{2} + d\rho^{2} + \frac{\lambda^{2}}{\lambda^{2} + \mu^{2}} (dz' + \sinh\rho d\tau)^{2} \right] + ds^{2} \left(S_{A}^{3} \right) \quad (4.11)$$

where, $z = \lambda z'/(\lambda^2 + \mu^2)^{3/2} = Q_{\rm NS} z'$. Once again, z' is not necessarily identified for (4.11) to be a solution of the type IIA theory. For convenience, we have defined $ds^2(S_A^3) \equiv (\lambda^2 + \mu^2)^{-1/2} ds^2(S_B^3)$.

It is interesting to note that for real NS-NS and R-R charges we always find spacelike squashed warped dual solutions. This property is true even when we turn on non-zero constant values for the type IIB dilatons, as shown in appendix B.

Another interesting case given by a vanishing $Q_{\rm RR}$ charge with $\mu = 0$. In this case the Hopf-T dualized solution is also a product of three-dimensional anti-de Sitter space and a sphere. This case will be of interest in the next section. On the other hand, if we turn off $Q_{\rm NS}$, such that $\lambda = 0$ then the Hopf T-dual geometry becomes $AdS_2 \times S^1 \times S^3$.

The Ricci scalar of the $WAdS_3$ piece is given by

$$R = -(\lambda^2 + \mu^2)^{1/2} (3\lambda^2 + 4\mu^2)/2 = -(3Q_{\rm NS}^2 + 4Q_{\rm RR}^2)/(Q_{\rm NS}^2 + Q_{\rm RR}^2)^{7/4}$$
(4.12)

Notice that the region of parameter space where the original AdS_3 solution has small curvature is also that where the $WAdS_3$ has small curvature. On the other hand, the size of the compactified circle in the Hopf T-dual solution is given by $R_{\text{IIA}} = 1/R_{\text{IIB}}$ which is much smaller than the string scale when $R_{\text{IIB}} \gg 1$.

Finally, it is rather convenient to write the quantities ℓ and β in terms of the new parameters λ and μ :

$$\ell^{2} = \frac{12}{(\lambda^{2} + \mu^{2})^{1/2} (3\lambda^{2} + 4\mu^{2})} = \frac{6(Q_{\rm NS}^{2} + Q_{\rm RR}^{2})^{7/4}}{(3Q_{\rm NS}^{2} + 4Q_{\rm RR}^{2})}$$
(4.13)

$$\beta^2 = \frac{\lambda^2}{\lambda^2 + \mu^2} = \frac{Q_{\rm NS}^2}{Q_{\rm NS}^2 + Q_{\rm RR}^2}$$
(4.14)

5 Entropy of six-dimensional black strings

In this section we compute the entropy of the black string solutions, with the fiber coordinate compactified, both from the six-dimensional gravitational point of view and from the point of view of the dual CFT.

5.1 Six-dimensional type IIB black string

We begin with the metric (4.2) which is the near horizon of the six-dimensional type IIB black string. This has been computed in a similar, but not identical, fashion in [36, 37] (see also [38, 39]). The four dimensional area of the black string is given by the volume of the fixed ρ and τ surface

$$A_4 = \frac{16\pi^2}{(\lambda^2 + \mu^2)^2} L \tag{5.1}$$

where $L = \int dz$ is the coordinate length of the string, which is infinite in extent. In order to regularize this infinity we will identify the direction $z \sim z + 2\pi\alpha$ such that $L = 2\pi\alpha$. Strictly speaking, since we are identifying z, we are actually dealing with a five dimensional black hole. Thus, the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy of this solution is given by,⁸

$$S_{\rm BH}^{\rm IIB} = \frac{A_4}{4G_6} = \frac{8\pi^3\alpha}{G_6(\lambda^2 + \mu^2)^2}$$
(5.2)

Now we can use our knowledge of AdS_3/CFT_2 to compute the entropy once again, from the point of view of the dual conformal field theory. Notice that with z identified, the AdS_3 metric is a self-dual metric with anti-de Sitter length

$$\ell = \frac{2}{\sqrt{\lambda^2 + \mu^2}} \tag{5.3}$$

The central charge is given by Brown-Henneaux to be

$$c_L^B = \frac{3\ell}{2G_3} = \frac{3}{G_3\sqrt{\lambda^2 + \mu^2}}$$
(5.4)

and the entropy of the CFT is given by:

$$S_{\rm CFT} = \frac{\pi^2 \ell c_L^B T_L}{3} \tag{5.5}$$

The left moving temperature T_L is determined by the periodicity of z and is found to be $T_L = \frac{\alpha}{2\pi\ell}$. The six-dimensional Newton's constant is related to the three-dimensional Newton's constant by $G_6 = Vol(S_B^3)G_3$ so that

$$G_3 = \frac{(\lambda^2 + \mu^2)^{3/2} G_6}{16\pi^2} \tag{5.6}$$

Assembling all the pieces leaves us with an entropy for the dual CFT of the form:

$$S_{\rm CFT} = \frac{8\pi^3 \alpha}{G_6 (\lambda^2 + \mu^2)^2} = S_{\rm BH}^{\rm IIB}$$
(5.7)

and thus the entropies of the black-string with an $AdS_3 \times S_B^3$ near horizon and the dual CFT match.

 c_L^B in the ten-dimensional frame. For later convenience we also write down the form of c_L^B in terms of G_6 and the charges

$$c_L^B = \frac{48\pi^2 (Q_{\rm RR}^2 + Q_{\rm NS}^2)}{G_6} \tag{5.8}$$

In the ten-dimensional theory we have that $16\pi G_{10} = (2\pi)^7 \ell_s^8 g_s^2$ where $G_{10} = (2\pi \ell_s)^4 V_{T^4} G_6$ and $(2\pi \ell_s)^4 V_{T^4}$ is the physical volume of the T^4 . Furthermore, we have

⁸We are using the following notation. Newton's constants with no tilde i.e. G_d are those of the type IIB theory, whereas those with a tilde, i.e. \tilde{G}_d are those of the type IIA theory.

that $g_6 = g_s/\sqrt{V_{T^4}}$ which we should take into account even though we set $g_6 = 1$ by choosing $\phi_1 = \phi_2 = 0$. Thus, in the ten-dimensional frame

$$c_L^B = 6 \times 2^4 \left(Q_{\rm RR}^2 + Q_{\rm NS}^2 \right) \frac{V_{T^4}}{g_s^2} = 6 \left(\bar{Q}_{\rm RR}^2 + \bar{Q}_{\rm NS}^2 \right)$$
(5.9)

where we have defined $\bar{Q}_{\rm RR} = 4Q_{\rm RR}/g_6$ and $\bar{Q}_{\rm NS} = 4Q_{\rm NS}/g_6$. In the above form, the discrete character of the central charge is manifest. The central charge is quadratic in the charges bearing a similarity to the case $c_L = 6Q_1Q_5$ from the CFT found in the IR limit of the world volume gauge theory of the D1-D5 brane system [38, 40]. In fact, if we switch off the $Q_{\rm NS}$ we recover that precise situation.

5.2 Six-dimensional Hopf T-dualized type IIA black string

At this point we would like to apply our central charges (2.23) to account for the entropy of the Hopf T-dualized black string whose near horizon is given by $WAdS_3 \times S^3$ with metric (4.11). The Bekenstein-Hawking entropy is found to be

$$S_{\rm BH}^{\rm IIA} = \frac{A_4}{4\tilde{G}_6} = \frac{4\pi^2\lambda}{\tilde{G}_6(\lambda^2 + \mu^2)^{7/2}}L$$
(5.10)

where $L = \int dz'$. Once again, L is infinite in extent and we will identify the fiber coordinate as $z' \sim z' + 2\pi\alpha'$ such that $L = 2\pi\alpha'$. Then we have that our solution is a warped self-dual solution and we can compute the entropy of the dual CFT. The central charge is now given by the proposed value in (2.23). In terms of λ and μ it becomes

$$c_L^A = \frac{3\lambda}{\tilde{G}_3(\lambda^2 + \mu^2)^{5/4}}$$
(5.11)

The left moving temperate is easily found to be $T_L = \alpha'/2\pi\ell$ as before, where now ℓ is given in (4.13), and \tilde{G}_3 is given by

$$\tilde{G}_3 = \frac{(\lambda^2 + \mu^2)^{9/4} \tilde{G}_6}{16\pi^2} \tag{5.12}$$

Notice that (5.6) and (5.12) are different since the volume of the three sphere is different in (4.2) and (4.11).

Thus, the entropy of the CFT becomes

$$S_{\rm CFT} = \frac{\pi^2 \ell c_L^A T_L}{3} = \frac{8\pi^3 \lambda \alpha'}{\tilde{G}_6 (\lambda^2 + \mu^2)^{7/2}} = S_{\rm BH}^{\rm IIA}$$
(5.13)

Once again, the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy and the entropy coming from the dual CFT match.

 c_L^A in the ten-dimensional frame. In terms of \tilde{G}_6 and the charges c_L^A is given by

$$c_L^A = \frac{48\pi^2 (Q_{\rm NS}^2 + Q_{\rm RR}^2) Q_{\rm NS}}{\tilde{G}_6} \tag{5.14}$$

We can express this in the ten-dimensional frame where we find

$$c_L^A = 6(\bar{Q}_{\rm NS}^2 + \bar{Q}_{\rm RR}^2)Q_{\rm NS} \tag{5.15}$$

One immediately notices that the central charge is now cubic in the charges, indicating a deviation from the type IIB situation. It would be interesting to further understand this property and we leave this for future work.

6 Duality chains

From Brown-Henneaux we learned that quantum gravity in asymptotically AdS_3 spacetimes is holographically dual to a two-dimensional CFT, say CFT_B . Furthermore, the above results suggest that asymptotically $WAdS_3$ is holographically dual to another twodimensional CFT, say CFT_A . One may therefore ask what the relation between these two CFTs is, in light of the Hopf T-dualization.

6.1 Hopf T-dualization along the AdS_3 fiber

In this case we can extend the arrow diagram of (4.1) to

$$CFT_B \longleftrightarrow AdS_3 \times S_B^3 \longleftrightarrow WAdS_3 \times S_A^3 \longleftrightarrow CFT_A$$
 (6.1)

The precise Hopf T-duality relates warped self-dual solutions with unwarped self-dual solutions. We argued that self-dual solutions are in fact states in a two-dimensional CFT with the right moving temperature turned off.

The ansatz (B.8) we have used for the dimensional reduction of the six dimensional metric is such that $\int dz d^5x \sqrt{-\hat{g}}\hat{R} = 2\pi \int d^5x \sqrt{g}(R + ...)$, where the hat denotes six-dimensional quantities [41, 42]. This ensures that the six-dimensional Newton's constant remains unchanged before and after the Hopf T-dualization, i.e. $G_6 = \tilde{G}_6$, so long as the z co-ordinate retains its periodicity and G_5 retains its value. It follows from (5.8) and (5.14) that

$$\frac{c_L^A}{c_L^B} = Q_{\rm NS} \frac{G_6}{\tilde{G}_6} = Q_{\rm NS} \tag{6.2}$$

as expected from (5.9) and (5.15).

Now, recalling that the duality chain relates two self-dual solutions, one warped and the other unwarped, we can compare the entropy of each and see that they match. This happens because the ratio of temperatures is given by the change in periodicity of the fiber coordinate given in (4.11). So we have

$$S_{\rm CFT}^B = \frac{\pi^2 \ell_B T_L^B c_L^B}{3} = \frac{\pi^2 \ell_A T_L^A c_L^A}{3} = S_{\rm CFT}^A$$
(6.3)

Thus thermal states with vanishing right-moving temperature in CFT_B are mapped to thermal states with vanishing right-moving temperature in CFT_A with the same entropy. The fact that they have the same entropy may not come as a surprise given that it is emphasized in [2] that the area of the horizon is preserved under Hopf T-dualization and thus the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy itself is preserved.⁹

One can also consider the above duality chain with vanishing Q_{RR} charge, such that $\mu = 0$. In this case, the map is between $AdS_3 \times S_B^3$ and $AdS_3 \times S_A^3$ and thus the central charges are known. Once again, we find that the ratio of the two Brown-Henneaux central charges c_L^A and c_L^B is Q_{NS} ; thus the map is between two different CFTs.

Multiplicity of states. It is somewhat useful to consider the partition function of a 2d CFT with central charge c_L^B for the left-movers

$$Z_{L} = \sum_{N_{L}=1}^{\infty} d(N_{L})e^{-\beta_{L}E_{L}}$$
(6.4)

where $d(N_L)$ is the multiplicity of left-moving states and N_L is the \bar{L}_0 eigenvalue. Given a two-dimensional unitary CFT, Cardy's formula tells us that for $N_L \gg 1$ the multiplicity of states goes as $d(N_L) \sim e^{2\pi \sqrt{c_L N_L/6}}$ [44].

Recall that under the Hopf T-duality the effective temperatures of the type IIB and type IIA solutions with z and z' identified are in fact related by $\ell_B T_L^B = Q_{\rm NS} \ell_A T_L^A$ (since they are proportional to the periodicities of z and z'). Using further that $c_L^A/c_L^B = Q_{\rm NS}$ and $N_L \sim c_L (T_L \ell)^2$ we obtain $N_L^A/N_L^B = 1/Q_{\rm NS}$. Performing the transformation

$$c_L^B \to c_L^A = Q_{\rm NS} c_L^B, \qquad N_L^B \to N_L^A = N_L^B / Q_{\rm NS}$$

$$(6.5)$$

on $d(N_L)$, we find that the multiplicity of states for large N_L^A with c_L^A is equal to that for large N_L^B with c_L^B . Thus, we see that it is at least conceivable that the two partition functions of CFT_B and CFT_A can, and in fact should, be equal under the Hopf T-dualization even if $c_L^A \neq c_L^B$.¹⁰

6.2 Hopf T-dualization along the S_B^3 fiber

As demonstrated in [2] one can also perform the Hopf T-duality along the fiber coordinate¹¹ of the S_B^3 which results in the metric [2]

$$ds^{2} = \frac{1}{(\lambda^{2} + \mu^{2})^{3/2}} \left[-\cosh^{2}\rho d\tau^{2} + d\rho^{2} + (dz + \sinh\rho d\tau)^{2} \right] + \frac{1}{(\lambda^{2} + \mu^{2})^{3/2}} \left[d\theta^{2} + \sin\theta^{2} d\phi^{2} + \frac{\lambda^{2}}{(\lambda^{2} + \mu^{2})} (dx' + \cos\theta d\phi)^{2} \right]$$
(6.6)

where $x = Q_{\rm NS}x'$ and $x' \sim x' + 4\pi/Q_{\rm NS}$. This is the product of AdS_3 with a squashed sphere s_A^3 and thus is dual to a two-dimensional CFT. The anti-de Sitter length can be

 $^{^{9}}$ It is also interesting to note the discussion of [43] on the invariance of Hawking entropy under certain string dualities.

¹⁰From the stringy point of view, it is possible that the effective CFTs coming from the long string sectors match [45].

¹¹Recall the metric of a three-sphere can be written as a fibration over S^2 where the fiber coordinate x is an S^1 with $x \sim x + 4\pi$.

easily read off and is given by $\ell = 2/(\lambda^2 + \mu^2)^{3/4}$. Thus the Brown-Henneaux central charge is given by

$$\bar{c}_L^A = \frac{3}{\tilde{G}_3(\lambda^2 + \mu^2)^{3/4}} = \frac{3}{\tilde{G}_6} \frac{16\pi^2}{(\lambda^2 + \mu^2)^2} = \frac{48\pi^2(Q_{\rm RR}^2 + Q_{\rm NS}^2)}{\tilde{G}_6}$$
(6.7)

where we have used that $\tilde{G}_6 = Vol(s_A^3)\tilde{G}_3$.

Note that \bar{c}_L^A is precisely the same central charge as the original one in (5.8), when expressed in terms of \tilde{G}_6 . Thus, Hopf T-Dualizing along the S_B^3 fiber maps states with vanishing right-moving temperature to states with vanishing right-moving temperature with the same entropy. Furthermore, the CFTs have the same central charge.

6.3 Double Hopf T-dualization

The final case of interest is given by first Hopf T-dualizing along the AdS_3 fiber coordinate and then Hopf T-dualizing along the S_A^3 fiber coordinate. The final metric is given by [2]

$$ds^{2} = \frac{1}{(\lambda^{2} + \mu^{2})^{2}} \left[-\cosh^{2}\rho d\tau^{2} + d\rho^{2} + \frac{\lambda^{2}}{(\lambda^{2} + \mu^{2})} (dz' + \sinh\rho d\tau)^{2} \right] \\ + \frac{1}{(\lambda^{2} + \mu^{2})^{2}} \left[d\theta^{2} + \sin\theta^{2} d\phi^{2} + \frac{\lambda^{2}}{(\lambda^{2} + \mu^{2})} (dx' + \cos\theta d\phi)^{2} \right]$$
(6.8)

this case, we have a product of $WAdS_3$ and a squashed sphere s_B^3 which we have proposed to be dual to a two-dimensional CFT. The central charge can be computed using (2.23) and it becomes

$$\bar{c}_L^B = \frac{3\lambda}{G_3(\lambda^2 + \mu^2)^{3/2}} = \frac{3}{G_6} \frac{16\pi^2\lambda}{(\lambda^2 + \mu^2)^{7/2}} = \frac{48\pi^2 Q_{\rm NS}(Q_{\rm NS}^2 + Q_{\rm RR}^2)}{G_6}$$
(6.9)

where we have used that $G_6 = Vol(s_B^3)G_3$.

Once again, note that \bar{c}_L^B is precisely the same central charge as the original one in (5.14), when expressed in terms of G_6 . Thus, Hopf T-Dualizing type IIA $WAdS_3 \times S_A^3$ solution along the S_A^3 fiber maps states with vanishing right-moving temperature to states with vanishing right-moving temperature with the same entropy and the CFTs have the same central charge.

7 Discussion

Following previous work [4, 30, 34], we have proposed that three-dimensional spacelike warped anti-de Sitter space, as a solution to Einstein theories of gravity, is dual to a two dimensional CFT with central charges

$$c_L = c_R = \frac{\sqrt{3}(4 - \beta^2)^{1/2}\beta\ell}{2G_3}$$
(7.1)

for all values of β^2 in the range $\beta^2 \in [0, 4]$.

Our evidence is based mostly on consistency checks applied to the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy of stretched black holes and warped self-dual solutions. We have least evidence for the value of c_R and in particular for c_R when $\beta^2 < 1$; the only non-pathological squashed solutions we have are warped self-dual solutions which are sensitive only to c_L . If the diffeomorphism anomaly vanishes in the boundary theory, knowing c_L is enough to learn the value of c_R . Also, that the asymptotic symmetry group of the squashed black hole gives c_R up to a sign seems encouraging [34].

We have furthermore used the left moving central charge to account for the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy of the Hopf T-dual black strings with a $WAdS_3 \times S^3$ near horizon discovered in [2]. It would thus be interesting to see if these central charges can be computed by studying the asymptotic symmetries of such theories.

We have completed the duality chain discovered in [2] as follows

$$CFT_B \longleftrightarrow AdS_3 \times S^3 \longleftrightarrow WAdS_3 \times S^3 \longleftrightarrow CFT_A$$
 (7.2)

The above map is between thermal states of the two CFTs with vanishing right-moving temperature and equal entropy. It was also found that Hopf T-dualizing along the S^3 fiber coordinate of either $WAdS^3 \times S^3$ or $AdS^3 \times S^3$ does not affect the central charge of the dual theory. In such cases the map is between thermal states with vanishing right-moving temperature and equal entropy in CFTs with equal central charges.

It may seem more intuitive that CFT_A and CFT_B are in fact identical; however, we find no direct evidence for this. On the contrary, when $Q_{\rm RR} = 0$ and the Hopf T-duality is a map between two AdS_3 s, the Brown-Henneaux central charges are still different. It is, however, already an interesting feature of the Hopf T-duality that the degrees of freedom of the dyonic black string with a $WAdS_3 \times S^3$ near horizon conspire to those of a known twodimensional CFT, namely the one dual to the $AdS_3 \times S^3$ type IIB solution. One possibility is that one must consider the long string sector, which is described by an effective CFT with rescaled central charge and effective temperature, in order to understand how the theories match microscopically.

It is well known that the dyonic black string can been obtained from an intersecting NS-NS 1-brane and NS-NS 5-brane in the ten dimensional picture [40]. Other D-brane configurations can also be obtained from various string dualities. In the same spirit, one would also like to have a D-brane interpretation of the Hopf T-dual dyonic string with $WAdS_3 \times S^3$ near horizon in order to understand the world volume theory. One challenge is to better understand how to construct CFTs with when we have both R-R and NS-NS charges turned on.

There is another limit of interest. In particular, if we have vanishing $Q_{\rm NS}$ charge, the six-dimensional Hopf T-dual solution becomes $AdS_2 \times S^1 \times S^3$. In this case the duality chain becomes

$$CFT_B \longleftrightarrow AdS_3 \times S^3 \longleftrightarrow AdS_2 \times S^1 \times S^3$$
 (7.3)

It would be interesting to see whether we can learn something about AdS_2 and its dual CFT using the above relation [3, 46]. For instance, the above chain may imply that $AdS_2 \times S^1$ resembles a chiral half of a two-dimensional CFT with vanishing T_R rather than conformal quantum mechanics.

In all known cases where $WAdS_3$ (or identifications thereof) appears in Einstein theories, it is only found to be both stretched and with matter content free of pathologies

for the near horizon of the extremal Kerr black hole at fixed polar angle [1, 9]. It would be of interest to understand the precise relation of the proposed central charges and the dual theory of extremal Kerr black holes that has been recently discussed [10, 11]. It seems that the proposed c_L should be the relevant central charge at each fixed polar angle, and once integrated over appropriately one should retrieve the extremal Kerr black hole entropy [47]. For instance, given the extremal Kerr metric (2.19), we can express the left moving central charge as,

$$c_L = \frac{6\sqrt{2}}{G_3} \frac{M\sin\theta}{\sqrt{(3+\cos2\theta)}} \tag{7.4}$$

The three dimensional Newton's constant can be related to the four dimensional one for a polar slice between θ and $\theta + d\theta$ as

$$\frac{1}{G_3} = \frac{1}{G_4} d\theta \sqrt{g_{\theta\theta}} = \frac{1}{G_4} \sqrt{2} M d\theta \sqrt{\frac{1 + \cos^2\theta}{2}}$$
(7.5)

Curiously, and perhaps interestingly, integrating over θ gives

$$c_L^{\text{total}} = 12J \tag{7.6}$$

This is the central charge obtained for the extremal Kerr black hole in [10].

Finally, given that regular matter supports squashed $WAdS_3$ in all other known cases, one would like to construct a model with non-pathological matter content supporting stretched $WAdS_3$.

Acknowledgments

This work was partially funded by an DOE grant DE-FG02-91ER40654. It has been a great pleasure to discuss this work with F. Denef, M. Esole, T. Hartman and A. Strominger.

A AdS_3 isometries

The isometries of this solution are given by $SL(2, \mathbb{R})_L \times SL(2, \mathbb{R})_R$. The $SL(2, \mathbb{R})_L$ isometries are given by

$$J_1 = \frac{2\sinh z}{\cosh\rho}\partial_\tau - 2\cosh z\partial_\rho + 2\tanh\rho\sinh z\partial_z \tag{A.1}$$

$$J_2 = 2\partial_z \tag{A.2}$$

$$J_0 = -\frac{2\cosh z}{\cosh\rho}\partial_\tau + 2\sinh z\partial_\rho - 2\tanh\rho\cosh z\partial_z \tag{A.3}$$

These satisfy the algebra $[J_1, J_2] = 2J_0$, $[J_0, J_1] = -2J_2$ and $[J_0, J_2] = 2J_1$. The SL $(2, \mathbb{R})_R$ isometries are given by

$$\tilde{J}_1 = 2\sin\tau \tanh\rho\partial_\tau - 2\cos\tau\partial_\rho + \frac{2\sin\tau}{\cosh\rho}\partial_z \tag{A.4}$$

$$\tilde{J}_2 = -2\cos\tau\tanh\rho\partial_\tau - 2\sin\tau\partial_\rho - \frac{2\cos\tau}{\cosh\rho}\partial_z \tag{A.5}$$

$$\tilde{J}_0 = 2\partial_\tau \tag{A.6}$$

These satisfy the algebra $[\tilde{J}_1, \tilde{J}_2] = 2\tilde{J}_0, \ [\tilde{J}_0, \tilde{J}_1] = -2\tilde{J}_2$ and $[\tilde{J}_0, \tilde{J}_2] = 2\tilde{J}_1$.

B Hopf T-dual solutions with non-zero ϕ_1 and ϕ_2

In order to answer whether there are stretched spacelike warped solutions we must take a close look at the equations of motion. The six-dimensional truncated type IIB Lagrangian is given by:

$$e^{-1}\mathcal{L}_{6B} = R - \frac{1}{2}(\partial\phi_1)^2 - \frac{1}{2}(\partial\phi_2)^2 - \frac{1}{2}e^{2\phi_1}(\partial\chi_1)^2 - \frac{1}{2}e^{2\phi_2}(\partial\chi_2)^2 - \frac{1}{12}e^{-\phi_1 - \phi_2}(F_{(3)}^{\rm NS})^2 - \frac{1}{12}e^{\phi_1 - \phi_2}\left(F_{(3)}^{\rm RR}\right)^2 + \chi_2 dA_{(2)}^{\rm NS} \wedge dA_{(2)}^{\rm RR}$$
(B.1)

The equations of motion are solved by the following three-forms:

$$F_{(3)}^{\rm NS} = \lambda \varepsilon (AdS_3) + \lambda \varepsilon (S^3) \tag{B.2}$$

$$F_{(3)}^{\rm RR} = \mu \varepsilon (AdS_3) + \mu \varepsilon (S^3) \tag{B.3}$$

where $\varepsilon(X)$ denotes the volume form of X. The metric is given by:

$$ds_6^2 = ds^2 (AdS_3) + ds^2 (S^3)$$
(B.4)

with Ricci tensors,

$$R_{\mu\nu} = -\frac{1}{2} (e^{-\phi_1 - \phi_2} \lambda^2 + e^{\phi_1 - \phi_2} \mu^2) g_{\mu\nu}, \qquad R_{mn} = \frac{1}{2} (e^{-\phi_1 - \phi_2} \lambda^2 + e^{\phi_1 - \phi_2} \mu^2) g_{mn} \quad (B.5)$$

The equations of motion for the scalar fields are trivially satisfied once we choose the threeforms to be self-dual, i.e. the coefficients of the AdS_3 and S^3 pieces to be equal. The Greek indices are those of AdS_3 and the Latin indices are those of the S^3 .

For completeness, we also give the six-dimensional type IIA Lagrangian below

$$e^{-1}\mathcal{L}_{6A} = R - \frac{1}{2}(\partial\phi_1)^2 - \frac{1}{2}(\partial\phi_2)^2 - \frac{1}{48}e^{\phi_1/2 - 3\phi_2/2} (F_{(4)})^2 - \frac{1}{12}e^{-\phi_1 - \phi_2} (F_{(3)})^2 - \frac{1}{4}e^{3\phi_1/2 - \phi_2/2} (F_{(2)})^2$$
(B.6)

B.1 Hopf T-dual solution

Having obtained the more general IIB solution we can Hopf T-dualize along the AdS_3 fiber coordinate to obtain a IIA solution. The explicit IIB metric in the fibrated coordinates is given by:

$$ds^{2} = \frac{1}{\left(e^{-\phi_{1}-\phi_{2}}\lambda^{2}+e^{\phi_{1}-\phi_{2}}\mu^{2}\right)} \left[-\cosh^{2}\rho d\tau^{2}+d\rho^{2}+(dz+\sinh\rho d\tau)^{2}\right] + ds^{2}\left(S^{3}\right) \quad (B.7)$$

Reducing along the fiber coordinate z with the following ansatz for the decomposition of the metric:

$$ds_6^2 = e^{-\varphi/\sqrt{6}} ds_5^2 + e^{\sqrt{3/2}\varphi} (dz + \mathcal{A}_{(1)})^2$$
(B.8)

we obtain

$$e^{\varphi/\sqrt{6}} = (e^{-\phi_1 - \phi_2}\lambda^2 + e^{\phi_1 - \phi_2}\mu^2)^{-1/3} \equiv \Delta^{-1/3}$$
(B.9)

$$\mathcal{F}_{(2)} \equiv d\mathcal{A}_{(1)} = \cosh \rho d\rho d\tau = \Sigma_{(2)} \tag{B.10}$$

and the five dimensional metric

$$ds_5^2 = \Delta^{-4/3} \left(-d\tau^2 + \cosh^2 \rho d\tau^2 \right) + \Delta^{-1/3} ds^2 (S^3)$$
(B.11)

Once in the five-dimensional space we can Hopf T-dualize the IIB solution using the rules obtained in [2]. The five-dimensional field content of the the IIB theory is given by

$$F_{(3)}^{\rm NS} = \lambda \varepsilon(S^3), \qquad \qquad F_{(2)1}^{\rm NS} = \frac{\lambda}{\Delta^{3/2}} \Sigma_{(2)} \qquad (B.12)$$

$$F_{(3)}^{\rm RR} = \mu \varepsilon(S^3),$$
 $F_{(2)1}^{\rm RR} = \frac{\mu}{\Delta^{3/2}} \Sigma_{(2)}$ (B.13)

$$\mathcal{F}_{(2)} = \Sigma_{(2)} \tag{B.14}$$

The T-dual field content in the five-dimensional IIA theory become

$$F_{(3)} = \lambda \varepsilon(S^3), \qquad \qquad \mathcal{F}'_{(2)} = \frac{\lambda}{\Delta^{3/2}} \Sigma_{(2)} \qquad (B.15)$$

$$F_{(3)1} = -\mu \varepsilon(S^3),$$
 $F_{(2)} = \frac{\mu}{\Delta^{3/2}} \Sigma_{(2)}$ (B.16)

$$F_{(2)1} = \Sigma_{(2)} \tag{B.17}$$

The scalars in the type IIA theory become

$$\phi_1' = \frac{1}{4} \left(-\sqrt{6}\varphi + 3\phi_1 - \phi_2 \right) \tag{B.18}$$

$$\phi_2' = \frac{1}{4} \left(-\sqrt{6}\varphi - \phi_1 + 3\phi_2 \right) \tag{B.19}$$

$$\varphi' = \frac{1}{4} \left(-2\varphi - \sqrt{6}(\phi_1 + \phi_2) \right)$$
 (B.20)

Finally we can oxidize back to the six-dimensional type IIA solution

$$ds_6^2 = e^{-\varphi'/\sqrt{6}} ds_5^2 + e^{\sqrt{3/2}\varphi'} \left(dz + \mathcal{A}'_{(1)} \right)^2$$
(B.21)

If we express this more explicitly,

$$ds_{6}^{2} = e^{-\varphi'/\sqrt{6}} \Delta^{-4/3} \left[\left(-\cosh^{2}\rho d\tau^{2} + d\rho^{2} \right) + \lambda^{2} e^{4\varphi'/\sqrt{6}} \Delta^{-5/3} (dz' + \mathcal{A}_{(1)})^{2} \right] + e^{-\varphi'/\sqrt{6}} \Delta^{-1/3} ds^{2} (S^{3})$$
(B.22)

where $z = \lambda \Delta^{-3/2} z'$. One can easily check that we recover the metric 4.11 once we set $\phi_1 = \phi_2 = 0$. The warping factor can be expressed more explicitly:

$$\lambda^2 e^{4\varphi'/\sqrt{6}} \Delta^{-5/3} = \frac{\lambda^2 e^{-(\phi_1 + \phi_2)}}{(e^{-(\phi_1 + \phi_2)}\lambda^2 + e^{\phi_1 - \phi_2}\mu^2)}$$
(B.23)

In conclusion, we still obtain a squashed metric for all constant values of the scalars ϕ_1 and ϕ_2 .

References

- I. Bengtsson and P. Sandin, Anti-de Sitter space, squashed and stretched, Class. Quant. Grav. 23 (2006) 971 [gr-qc/0509076] [SPIRES].
- [2] M.J. Duff, H. Lü and C.N. Pope, $AdS_3 \times S^3$ (un)twisted and squashed and an O(2,2,Z) multiplet of dyonic strings, Nucl. Phys. B 544 (1999) 145 [hep-th/9807173] [SPIRES].
- [3] A. Strominger, AdS₂ quantum gravity and string theory, JHEP 01 (1999) 007 [hep-th/9809027] [SPIRES].
- [4] D. Anninos, W. Li, M. Padi, W. Song and A. Strominger, Warped AdS₃ black holes, JHEP 03 (2009) 130 [arXiv:0807.3040] [SPIRES].
- [5] S. Deser, R. Jackiw and S. Templeton, *Topologically massive gauge theories*, *Ann. Phys.* 140 (1982) 372 [Erratum ibid. 185 (1988) 406] [Annals Phys. 281 (2000) 409] [SPIRES].
- [6] S. Deser, R. Jackiw and S. Templeton, Three-dimensional massive gauge theories, Phys. Rev. Lett. 48 (1982) 975 [SPIRES].
- J.D. Brown and M. Henneaux, Central charges in the canonical realization of asymptotic symmetries: an example from three-dimensional gravity, Commun. Math. Phys. 104 (1986) 207 [SPIRES].
- [8] M.J. Duff, S. Ferrara, R.R. Khuri and J. Rahmfeld, Supersymmetry and dual string solitons, Phys. Lett. B 356 (1995) 479 [hep-th/9506057] [SPIRES].
- [9] J.M. Bardeen and G.T. Horowitz, The extreme Kerr throat geometry: a vacuum analog of AdS₂ × S², Phys. Rev. D 60 (1999) 104030 [hep-th/9905099] [SPIRES].
- [10] M. Guica, T. Hartman, W. Song and A. Strominger, The Kerr/CFT correspondence, arXiv:0809.4266 [SPIRES].
- [11] A. Strominger, Quantum gravity in three dimensions, in Strings 2008, CERN, Geneva Switzerland, 17–23 August 2008.
- [12] M. Banados, C. Teitelboim and J. Zanelli, The black hole in three-dimensional space-time, Phys. Rev. Lett. 69 (1992) 1849 [hep-th/9204099] [SPIRES].
- [13] M. Bañados, M. Henneaux, C. Teitelboim and J. Zanelli, Geometry of the (2+1) black hole, Phys. Rev. D 48 (1993) 1506 [gr-qc/9302012] [SPIRES].
- [14] J.M. Maldacena and A. Strominger, AdS₃ black holes and a stringy exclusion principle, JHEP 12 (1998) 005 [hep-th/9804085] [SPIRES].
- [15] S. Carlip and C. Teitelboim, Aspects of black hole quantum mechanics and thermodynamics in (2+1)-dimensions, Phys. Rev. D 51 (1995) 622 [gr-qc/9405070] [SPIRES].
- [16] K.A. Moussa, G. Clement and C. Leygnac, The black holes of topologically massive gravity, Class. Quant. Grav. 20 (2003) L277 [gr-qc/0303042] [SPIRES].
- [17] A. Bouchareb and G. Clement, Black hole mass and angular momentum in topologically massive gravity, Class. Quant. Grav. 24 (2007) 5581 [arXiv:0706.0263] [SPIRES].
- [18] Y. Nutku, Exact solutions of topologically massive gravity with a cosmological constant, Class. Quant. Grav. 10 (1993) 2657 [SPIRES].
- [19] M. Gürses, Perfect fluid sources in 2+1 dimensions, Class. Quant. Grav. 11 (1994) 2585.

- [20] K.A. Moussa, G. Clement, H. Guennoune and C. Leygnac, Three-dimensional Chern-Simons black holes, Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 064065 [arXiv:0807.4241] [SPIRES].
- [21] G. Compere and S. Detournay, Semi-classical central charge in topologically massive gravity, Class. Quant. Grav. 26 (2009) 012001 [Erratum ibid. 26 (2009) 139801] [arXiv:0808.1911] [SPIRES].
- [22] P. Kraus and F. Larsen, Holographic gravitational anomalies, JHEP 01 (2006) 022 [hep-th/0508218] [SPIRES].
- [23] S.N. Solodukhin, Holography with gravitational Chern-Simons term, Phys. Rev. D 74 (2006) 024015 [hep-th/0509148] [SPIRES].
- [24] Y. Tachikawa, Black hole entropy in the presence of Chern-Simons terms, Class. Quant. Grav. 24 (2007) 737 [hep-th/0611141] [SPIRES].
- [25] P. Kraus and F. Larsen, Microscopic black hole entropy in theories with higher derivatives, JHEP 09 (2005) 034 [hep-th/0506176] [SPIRES].
- [26] M.-I. Park, BTZ black hole with gravitational Chern-Simons: thermodynamics and statistical entropy, Phys. Rev. D 77 (2008) 026011 [hep-th/0608165] [SPIRES].
- [27] T. Andrade, M. Bañados, R. Benguria and A. Gomberoff, The 2+1 charged black hole in topologically massive electrodynamics, Phys. Rev. Lett. 95 (2005) 021102 [hep-th/0503095] [SPIRES].
- [28] M. Bañados, G. Barnich, G. Compere and A. Gomberoff, Three dimensional origin of Gödel spacetimes and black holes, Phys. Rev. D 73 (2006) 044006 [hep-th/0512105] [SPIRES].
- [29] J. Bardeen and R. Wagoner, Relativistic uniform disks. I. Uniform rotation, Astrophys. J. 167 (1971) 359.
- [30] G. Compere, S. Detournay and M. Romo, Supersymmetric Gödel and warped black holes in string theory, Phys. Rev. D 78 (2008) 104030 [arXiv:0808.1912] [SPIRES].
- [31] S. Detournay, D. Orlando, P.M. Petropoulos and P. Spindel, *Three-dimensional black holes from deformed anti de Sitter*, *JHEP* 07 (2005) 072 [hep-th/0504231] [SPIRES].
- [32] D. Israel, C. Kounnas and M.P. Petropoulos, Superstrings on NS5 backgrounds, deformed AdS₃ and holography, JHEP 10 (2003) 028 [hep-th/0306053] [SPIRES].
- [33] D. Israel, C. Kounnas, D. Orlando and P.M. Petropoulos, *Electric/magnetic deformations of S³ and AdS₃ and geometric cosets*, *Fortsch. Phys.* 53 (2005) 73 [hep-th/0405213] [SPIRES].
- [34] G. Compere and S. Detournay, Centrally extended symmetry algebra of asymptotically Gödel spacetimes, JHEP 03 (2007) 098 [hep-th/0701039] [SPIRES].
- [35] O. Coussaert and M. Henneaux, Self-dual solutions of 2+1 Einstein gravity with a negative cosmological constant, hep-th/9407181 [SPIRES].
- [36] A. Strominger, Black hole entropy from near-horizon microstates, JHEP 02 (1998) 009
 [hep-th/9712251] [SPIRES].
- [37] N. Kaloper, Entropy count for extremal three-dimensional black strings, *Phys. Lett.* B 434 (1998) 285 [hep-th/9804062] [SPIRES].
- [38] G.T. Horowitz and A. Strominger, Counting states of near-extremal black holes, Phys. Rev. Lett. 77 (1996) 2368 [hep-th/9602051] [SPIRES].
- [39] Y.S. Myung, N.J. Kim and H.W. Lee, 6D black string as a model of the AdS/CFT correspondence, Mod. Phys. Lett. A 14 (1999) 575 [hep-th/9902156] [SPIRES].

- [40] A. Strominger and C. Vafa, Microscopic origin of the Bekenstein-Hawking entropy, Phys. Lett. B 379 (1996) 99 [hep-th/9601029] [SPIRES].
- [41] C.N. Pope, Lectures on Kaluza-Klein theory, http://faculty.physics.tamu.edu/pope/.
- [42] M.J. Duff, H. Lü and C.N. Pope, AdS₅ × S⁵ untwisted, Nucl. Phys. B 532 (1998) 181
 [hep-th/9803061] [SPIRES].
- [43] G.T. Horowitz and D.L. Welch, Duality invariance of the Hawking temperature and entropy, Phys. Rev. D 49 (1994) 590 [hep-th/9308077] [SPIRES].
- [44] J.L. Cardy, Operator content of two-dimensional conformally invariant theories, Nucl. Phys. B 270 (1986) 186 [SPIRES].
- [45] J.M. Maldacena and L. Susskind, *D-branes and fat black holes*, *Nucl. Phys.* B 475 (1996) 679 [hep-th/9604042] [SPIRES].
- [46] T. Hartman and A. Strominger, Central charge for AdS₂ quantum gravity, JHEP 04 (2009) 026 [arXiv:0803.3621] [SPIRES].
- [47] T. Hartman, private communication.